
 
 
 
PC 01/10/24     Page 1 of 2 

 
 

City of Depoe Bay 
 

Planning Commission 
 Regular and Public Hearing Meeting 

 

January 10, 2024 – Wednesday, 6:00 PM 
 

Depoe Bay City Hall – 570 SE Shell Avenue 
 
 
 

 
The Meeting Location is Accessible to the Public 

 
To Join from Your Computer, Tablet, or Smartphone: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85727774047?pwd=SHNyMUcrSTVKNlZaZjlYVlRKSlFHZz09 
Meeting ID:  857 2777 4047 
Passcode:  530799 

To Join from Your Phone: 
Phone:  (253) 215-8782 
Meeting ID:  857 2777 4047 
Passcode:  530799

Public comments may be made via email up to two hours before the meeting start time at info@cityofdepoebay.org 
 

Please Note:  In the event of Zoom Technical Difficulties the Telephone Conference System will be utilized.  Dial (888) 204-5987, Access code 9599444 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

I. Call Meeting to Order and Establish a Quorum 
 

A. Selection of Planning Commission President 
 

B. Selection of Planning Commission Vice-President  
 
II. Announcements 
 
III. Approval of Minutes:  September 13, 2023 Regular Meeting 
 
IV. Public Hearings 
 

A. Case File: #4-CU-PC-23 
Applicant: Bay View Investments, LLC  
Owner: Same as Applicant 
Application: Conditional Use Permit 
Zone, Map and Tax Lot: Retail Commercial C-1, 09-11-05-CA Tax Lot #17802 

  Location: 300-block, NE Williams Avenue 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
PC 01/10/24     Page 2 of 2 

 
 

B. Case File: #4-GEO-PC-23 (Postpone to February 14, 2024) 
Applicant: C.A. White, Jr. 
Owner: Same as Applicant 
Application: Geotechnical Report Review 
Zone, Map and Tax Lot: Residential R-5, 09-11-05-DD Tax Lot #00300 

  Location: 565 NE Stanley Street 
 
V. Unfinished Business 
 
VI. New Business 
 

A. Date change for April 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 
 

VII. Public Comments – Items Not on Tonight’s Agenda 
 
VIII. City Council Liaison Report (January:  TBD; February:  TBD) 
 
IX. City Planner and City Recorder Reports 
 
X. Planning Commission Concerns 
 
XI. Adjourn 
 
 

Depoe Bay City Hall is accessible to the disabled.  If special accommodations are needed, please notify 
City Recorder at 765-2361 48 Hours in advance of the meeting so that appropriate assistance can be provided. 

TTY#1-800-735-2900 
“This institution is an equal opportunity provider” 



 

 
DBPC 09/13/23   Page 1 of 8 
 

Depoe Bay Planning Commission 1 
Regular Meeting 2 
Wednesday, September 13, 2023 – 6:00 PM 3 
Depoe Bay City Hall 4 
 5 
PRESENT:  J. Imbrie, R. Moreland, E. Sherman, J. Faucett, G. Steinke 6 
STAFF:  City Recorder K. Wollenburg, Public Works Director B. Weidner 7 

 City Planner K. Fox, Deputy City Recorder C. Duering 8 
 9 
I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 10 
 11 
Faucett called the meeting to order and established a quorum at 6:00 PM. 12 
 13 
II. ANNOUNCEMENTS  14 
 15 
The City Planner announced 1) There are two (2) vacancies on the Planning Commission and 16 
explained how to apply.  He noted that the notice of vacancy has been posted on the City’s 17 
website and broadcasted on KLCC, a public radio station.  He encouraged anyone who has 18 
an interest to contact him if they have any questions; 2) He and the City Recorder recently met 19 
with the City’s grant consultants.  They will be looking into viable options for housing-related 20 
studies i.e., housing needs assessments, and land inventory; 3) There may be some housing-21 
related assistance funds still available from the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and 22 
Development (DLCD).  23 
 24 
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  July 20, 2023, Regular Meeting 25 
 26 
Motion:  Steinke moved to approve the minutes of the July 20, 2023, regular meeting.  Sherman 27 
seconded. 28 
 29 

Vote:  Motion passed. 30 
 Ayes:  Moreland, Sherman, Faucett, Steinke, Imbrie 31 
 32 
IV. PUBLIC HEARINGS 33 
 34 
Faucett announced that the following statement applies to the following public hearings. 35 
 36 
The testimony and evidence must be directed toward the code sections, citations, and criteria 37 
established by the Depoe Bay City Staff Report or other criteria in the code the party believes 38 
to apply to the subject request. The failure to raise an issue accompanied by statements or 39 
evidence sufficient to afford the Commission and the parties an opportunity to respond to the 40 
issue precludes an appeal to the State Land Use Board of Appeals on that issue. Application 41 
materials and other evidence relied upon by the applicant have been provided to the City and 42 
have been made available to the public. 43 
 44 
Faucett stated the procedures used for the public hearings heard tonight will be as follows:   First, 45 
there will be a Staff Report.  The applicant will present his or her testimony.  There will be testimony 46 
from those in favor of the application. There will be testimony from those in opposition to the 47 
application.  There will be a rebuttal from the applicant.  She will then ask if there is anyone who 48 
would request that the record remain open for final additional written testimony.  If none, at that 49 



 

 
DBPC 09/13/23   Page 2 of 8 
 

time the public hearing will be closed.  There will be Commission deliberation and decision.  1 
There will be no further input from the public during deliberations. 2 
 3 

A. Case File:  #3-GEO-PC-23 (continued from August 9, 2023) 4 
Applicants:  Cameron and Megan Vasquez  5 
Owner:  Same as Applicants 6 
Application:  Geotechnical Report Review 7 
Zone, Map, and Tax Lot:  Residential R-5PD, 09-11-05-DC Tax Lot #05400 8 
Location:  173 NE Spring Avenue 9 

 10 
The City Planner summarized his memorandum (copy attached to original of these minutes).  He 11 
noted that the applicant has submitted a revised Geotechnical Report prepared by Rapid Soil 12 
Solutions (RSS) (copy attached to original of these minutes). 13 
 14 
The applicant had no comments. 15 
 16 
There was no testimony in favor or opposition to the application. 17 
 18 
There was no rebuttal from the applicant. 19 
 20 
There was no request to keep the record open. 21 
 22 
The public hearing was closed, and the Commission entered deliberations. 23 
 24 
There was no discussion. 25 
 26 
Motion:  Steinke moved to approve Case File #3-GEO-PC-23 (Geotechnical Report Review) and 27 
adopt the Conditions of Approval (Items 1 thru 8) as prepared by the City Planner.  Sherman 28 
seconded. 29 
 30 

Vote:  Motion passed. 31 
 Ayes:  Sherman, Faucett, Steinke 32 

Abstain:  Imbrie, Moreland 33 
 34 

B. Case File:  #3-CU-PC-23 35 
Applicants:  City of Depoe Bay  36 
Owner:  Same as Applicant 37 
Application:  Conditional Use Permit 38 
Zone, Map, and Tax Lot:  Retail Commercial C-1 and Residential R-4 39 
 09-11-05-CA Tax Lots #15800 and #15900 40 
Location:  20 and 26 NW Vista Street 41 

 42 
Faucett asked if any Commissioner had ex-parte contact, conflict of interest, or bias to declare. 43 
 44 
Imbrie declared that at one point in time, he offered to purchase the residential lot from the 45 
City.  He stated it would not affect his outlook.  46 
   47 
There was no objection to any Planning Commissioner hearing the case. 48 
 49 



 

 
DBPC 09/13/23   Page 3 of 8 
 

The City Planner summarized the Staff Report (copy attached to original of these minutes). He 1 
referenced a letter presented at the September 5, 2023, City Council Meeting from Steve Saville 2 
questioning the lack of notice and necessity of a parking lot (copy attached to original of these 3 
minutes). 4 
 5 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The procedure for renewing an expired Conditional Use Permit 6 
is the same as a new application; 2) Notices were mailed to property owners within a 250’ radius 7 
of the subject property; 3) A Conditional Use approval is void after two (2) years if substantial 8 
construction has not taken place; 4) Unfortunately the original Conditional Use approval was 9 
expired at the time that the parking lot was paved; 5) There are no City requirements or plans 10 
for pedestrian connectivity to the North Point trails and parks; 6) The degradation of the trail 11 
system due to increased visitor awareness over the last few years; 7) The trails need to be 12 
improved and maintained; 8) The Building Code requires a handicapped parking space; 9) This 13 
could have been presented as a Master Plan for the North Point neighborhood; 10) Notices 14 
were mailed and public testimony was received in 2019. 15 
 16 
Public Works Director Brady Weidner stated 1) At the time the City was receiving complaints 17 
from homeowners on NW Sunset Street, NW Vista Street, and NW Alsea Avenue and businesses 18 
regarding parking; 2) The City addressed the off-street parking issue by providing additional 19 
parking at the north end of North Point and proposing the parking lot development at the 20 
subject site in 2019; 3) The project was proposed to be funded by the Depoe Bay Urban Renewal 21 
Agency; however the property was located outside of the Urban Renewal Boundary which 22 
halted the construction activities; 4) The material supply shortages due to the COVID-19 23 
pandemic and wildfires as well as City personnel changes further delayed the project; 5) The 24 
paving was already scheduled when he became aware of the expiration of the Conditional 25 
Use Permit.  26 
 27 
Discussion followed regarding the installation of electric charging stations and a restroom in the 28 
future. 29 
 30 
Faucett called for testimony in favor of the application.  There was none. 31 
 32 
Faucett called for testimony in opposition to the application. 33 
 34 
Steve Saville stated he and his wife are the owners of the home adjacent to the parking lot on 35 
the west side.  Testimony included:  1) He is not so much against the project as the way the City 36 
has gone about it and the inability to get information; 2) He resubmitted the letter presented to 37 
the City Council (copy attached to original of these minutes) because the second page of his 38 
letter was omitted from the Planning Commission meeting packet; 3) Much of the information 39 
that is being provided is old information;  he asked for a copy of the plans and specifications of 40 
the project and received a copy of the plot plan which is not representative of what has been 41 
completed to date; 4) The business parking in the vicinity is more than adequate;  the parking 42 
lots at the cannabis dispensary, and both upper and lower parking at Mall 101 are rarely used; 43 
5) Providing additional parking for folks who want to hike the trails should prompt the City to 44 
initiate parking restrictions in the North Point neighborhoods; 6) The parking lot for the most part 45 
has already been constructed; 7) His main concern is erosion control and privacy fencing. 46 
 47 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The parking lots within no more than two (2) blocks of the 48 
subject site are rarely used; 2) Installation of “No Parking” signage along the narrow streets; 3) 49 



 

 
DBPC 09/13/23   Page 4 of 8 
 

Homeowners have expressed concerns with access to their properties during high tourist season 1 
i.e., people parking on their property and blocking their driveways.  2 
 3 
Karen Dieter stated she lives across the street from the new parking lot.  Testimony included:  1) 4 
Like Steve, it is not so much an objection to the parking lot as questions regarding how it was 5 
constructed with no notification; 2) If she were to construct a garage with an expired permit, 6 
she would be told to tear the garage down and/or be fined; 3) She worked in a law office for 7 
many years and knows that without prior notice the actions of the City is questionable;  4) There 8 
have been no answers to questions regarding:  when and where the signage will be posted;  9 
who will be monitoring the lot after hours; parking restrictions along NW Alsea Avenue; garbage 10 
disposal and fencing; 5) There are issues with how quickly it was constructed and the lack of 11 
prior notification.   12 
 13 
Steve Saville stated that he forgot to mention that several neighbors including himself just moved 14 
to the area within the last two (2) years, so they were not aware of what took place before that.  15 
The first day he heard about the construction of a parking lot was the day construction started. 16 
 17 
Faucett called for rebuttal from the applicant. 18 
 19 
Public Works Director Brady Weidner stated that 1) The parking lot was approved in 2019 and 20 
80% completed including surveying, clearing, and preparation of the site for gravel and 21 
installation of the storm drain system; 2)  The project was halted by the City Council in 2020;  3) 22 
He had no idea that the Conditional Use Permit had expired; 4) To avoid contractual penalties, 23 
he proceeded with paving and striping the parking lot; 5) Fencing will be installed around the 24 
perimeter; 6) Storm water from three (3) adjacent homes and the Oregon Department of 25 
Transportation (ODOT) storm drainage system issues have been addressed; 7) The Lincoln 26 
County Sheriff’s Office Deputy will be patrolling the area per the normal process of patrolling 27 
the City; 8) Signage will prohibit overnight usage.  In conclusion, he said he is looking forward to 28 
having the project completed as directed by the City Council. 29 
 30 
Discussion followed regarding 1) Restricting parking in the residential areas is a City Council 31 
decision; 2) NW Alsea right-of-way is 40 feet wide; 3) Encouraging residents to come and talk to 32 
the City Staff; 4) The project timeline; 5) Homeowner’s fencing and outbuilding encroach into 33 
the subject site; 6) Promotion of the Depoe Bay trail system; 7) Trail maintenance and 34 
improvements;  8) If violations of the Zoning Code are brought to the City’s attention then the 35 
City will try to remedy the matter by contacting the property owner and letting them know to 36 
stop until the necessary permits and/or land use approvals have been obtained.  If it is not 37 
possible to legalize the situation then get them to stop, and if not stopped then legal action 38 
may be taken.  The City should not be held to any different standard; 9) This is not the ideal 39 
process, but it is a process to try to remedy the situation; 10) The exhibits that were provided 40 
were part of the 2019 approval; 10) There were no other records or plans that were submitted 41 
for the Planning Commission’s review. 42 
 43 
A member of the audience asked if they could ask additional questions. 44 
 45 
The City Recorder offered to meet with the residents regarding their concerns/questions. 46 
 47 
There was no request to keep the record open. 48 
 49 



 

 
DBPC 09/13/23   Page 5 of 8 
 

The public hearing was closed, and the Commission entered deliberations. 1 
 2 
Discussion included 1) The City bungled this project; 2) No issue with a parking lot or the mini 3 
parks. The bigger issue is liability. We are inviting tourists into a residential neighborhood. We 4 
need a trail system designed to accommodate the increased pedestrian traffic; 3) Addressing 5 
concerns to the Parks Commission; 4) We are basically granting forgiveness not permission; the 6 
parking lot is paved and striped; 5) The residents need to meet with the City Recorder and Public 7 
Works Director regarding their questions/concerns; 6) Hopefully the City will endeavor to do it 8 
right in the future; 7) Renewal versus reapplication of an expired Conditional Use Permit; 8) Since 9 
the parking lot is meant to serve the entire neighborhood perhaps the whole neighborhood 10 
should have been notified; 9) Per the Oregon Planning and Land Use Regulations regarding 11 
notification procedures the City fulfilled their obligation; 10) There is adequate parking for the 12 
businesses so the additional parking is being provided to serve the trails and the six (6) mini parks; 13 
11) There are a lot more things to consider because we are changing a neighborhood; 12) The 14 
request as stated in the Staff Report can be amended by motion. 15 
  16 
Amended Motion:  Steinke moved to approve Case File #3-CU-PC-23 (Conditional Use Permit) 17 
(Items 1 thru 6) as prepared by the City Planner and as amended by the Planning Commission 18 
to rephrase the request to The applicant requests renewal re-establishment and continuation of 19 
an expired 2019 Conditional Use Permit for a public parking lot adjacent to the City’s sewer 20 
pump station on NW Vista Street.  Sherman seconded. 21 
 22 

Vote:  Motion passed. 23 
 Ayes:  Faucett, Steinke, Moreland, Sherman 24 
 Nays:  Imbrie 25 
 26 
V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 27 
 28 

A. “Quality of Life” Code Amendment: Noise (continued from July 20, 2023) 29 
 30 
The City Planner summarized his memorandum and draft regulations based upon the City of 31 
Newport Ordinance (copies attached to the original of these minutes). 32 
 33 
Discussion followed regarding 1) This is not meant to replace Depoe Bay Code of Ordinances 34 
Chapter 93; 2) Regulated noises in the Newport Ordinance i.e., the use of exhaust brakes (jake 35 
brakes), sound on New Year's Eve, and legal fireworks; 3) (e) The keeping of any animal or bird 36 
that creates noise for 10 consecutive minutes when unprovoked; verify in our Code if we have 37 
a distinction between animal and bird; 4) (h) The use or creation of amplified sound in any 38 
outdoor facility; adding language unless the event is permitted by the City or City sponsored; 5) 39 
Adding language that would allow displays such as the Troller’s Lodge Christmas light and music 40 
display. 41 
 42 
Faucett encouraged the Commission to provide any additional comments to Kit for discussion 43 
at the next meeting. 44 
 45 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 46 
 47 

A. Case File:  #6-2023 48 
Applicant:  City of Depoe Bay 49 



 

 
DBPC 09/13/23   Page 6 of 8 
 

Owner:  Same as Applicant 1 
Application:  Sign Permit 2 
Zone:  Planned Marine and Recreation M-P 3 
Map and Tax Lot:  09-11-08-AB Tax Lot 07497 4 
Location:  285 SE Coast Guard Drive 5 

 6 
The City Planner summarized his Memorandum and attachments (copies attached to the 7 
original of these minutes).   8 
 9 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The proposed signage complies with the sign regulations; 2) 10 
The signage is not proposed to be illuminated; 3) This item is before the Planning Commission 11 
because of the sensitivity of the Harbor area; 4) Very appropriate to advertise City Sservices at 12 
the Harbor.  13 
 14 
Motion:  Sherman moved to approve Case File #6-23 (Sign Permit) and adopt the Conditions of 15 
Approval (Items 1 thru 2) as prepared by the City Planner.  Steinke seconded. 16 
 17 

Vote:  Motion passed. 18 
 Ayes:  Steinke, Imbrie, Moreland, Sherman, Faucett 19 
 20 

B. Draft Tree Ordinance (City Recorder) 21 
 22 
Faucett announced that the discussion of the Draft Tree Ordinance has been deferred. 23 
 24 
The City Recorder explained it may take a year or more before the Housing Production Advisory 25 
Council ‘s (HPAC) recommendations go to the Governor. This is an important issue with the City 26 
Council. There will most likely be two approaches to the issue, one that affects development 27 
and one concerning the protection of heritage trees. She directed the Planning Commission to 28 
review the draft document for discussion at a future meeting. 29 
 30 
The City Planner added that the Planning Commission is considering provisions that address 31 
landscape requirements in residential zones.  32 
 33 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The large tree that was removed on the private property across 34 
from the Community Hall; 2) The requirement for an arborist’s determination of whether a tree is 35 
dead or diseased and cannot be saved; 3) The focus may be on lots over a certain size; 4) The 36 
City should be providing input on HPAC’s policy; 4) Every rule like this further restricts someone’s 37 
buildable area and that needs to be considered; 5) City-wide public outreach; 6) Permitting 38 
process. 39 
 40 
In conclusion, the City Recorder said she will be asking the Council for direction on proceeding 41 
with the Tree Ordinance at this time. 42 
 43 

C. Possible Appointment of Alternate Commissioners (Planning Commission 44 
President) 45 

 46 
Faucett stated that she requested the agenda item because she is concerned with the lack of 47 
members once she and another Commissioner’s terms expire.  They do not intend to renew, 48 
continue, or reestablish their membership. 49 



 

 
DBPC 09/13/23   Page 7 of 8 
 

She met with Mayor Short to discuss solutions.  The City Council will be deciding on reducing the 1 
membership from seven (7) members to five (5) and reducing the quorum requirements from 2 
four (4) to three (3) members present. That still puts a significant burden on the three (3) 3 
continuing members to always be present. 4 
 5 
Faucett recommended that two (2) alternate members serve temporarily in the absence or 6 
temporary vacancy of regular Planning Commission members: 1) The alternate members must 7 
have previously served on the Commission for at least four (4) years during the 10 years before 8 
their date of appointment; 2) The language would be similar to Lebanon and Junction City’s 9 
provisions for alternate membership; 3) Alternates would be appointed by the City Council; 4) 10 
Alternates would be subject to the Oregon Government Ethics Law. 11 
    12 
Faucett also suggested that the Planning Commission Liaison only be required to attend one (1) 13 
City Council meeting per month. The Mayor verbally agreed given the wonderful report 14 
provided by the City Planner. 15 
 16 
The City Recorder stated that she would add the item to the City Council agenda. 17 
 18 
VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS – ITEMS NOT ON TONIGHT’S AGENDA 19 
 20 
There was none.   21 
 22 
VIII. CITY COUNCIL LIAISON REPORT 23 
 24 
Moreland reported on the September 5, 2023, City Council meeting:  1) Appeal of Planning 25 
Commission Decision – Variance and Sign Permit Request – Inn at Arch Rock; 2) Lincoln County 26 
Sheriff’s Office monthly report; 3) Rural Continuum of Care / Benton-Lincoln Tri-County Rural 27 
Continuum; 4) Countywide Proposal for Winter Sheltering; 5) Commission/Committee/Group 28 
Reports - Emergency Preparedness and Harbor Commissions; 6) Action Item from Executive 29 
Session; 7) City Park Event Reservation Fee Waiver Request – A Group of Concerned Citizens; 8) 30 
Potential Work Session – Salary Study Review; 9) City staff reports.  31 
 32 
IX. CITY PLANNER AND CITY RECORDER REPORTS 33 
 34 
The City Planner summarized the August 2023, Land Use and Building Permit Activity Report 35 
(copy attached to the original of these minutes).  He reiterated that the City Council denied the 36 
appeal and upheld the Planning Commission’s decision on the Inn at Arch Rock sign repair 37 
(Case File #2-VAR-PC-23).  The Council was very complimentary of the work of the Planning 38 
Commission and the compromise that the Planning Commission reached.  The Land Use Board 39 
of Appeal (LUBA) deadline is two (2) weeks from today.   40 
 41 
X. PLANNING COMMISSION CONCERNS 42 
 43 
Imbrie:  No concerns.  I will not be able to attend the November meeting. 44 
 45 
Faucett reminded the Commission to notify City Staff if they are unable to attend.  If there is an 46 
issue with meeting the quorum requirements, the November meeting may need to be 47 
rescheduled. 48 
 49 



 

 
DBPC 09/13/23   Page 8 of 8 
 

The City Planner is not anticipating any public hearings in October, which will allow the 1 
Commission time to discuss further the “Quality of Life” code amendments.  2 
 3 
Moreland:  None. 4 
 5 
Sherman:  I encourage the City to provide comments on The Housing Production Advisory 6 
Council’s (HPAC) policies.  I can’t emphasize enough how much of a pain that committee has 7 
been in lots of different aspects related to building, development, and land uses.  The realm of 8 
issues that they are involved in is all related to expediting housing production. 9 
 10 
The City Recorder added that HB3414 is not dead.  The bill limits the conditions in which local 11 
government may deny an application for a variance from land use regulations. 12 
 13 
Discussion followed. 14 
 15 
Steinke: I am extremely disappointed and discouraged as to what has happened to our tsunami 16 
warning system.  As a Planning Commissioner, I was part of the planning and implementation of 17 
the system. We bought state-of-the-art equipment with siren and public announcement 18 
capabilities. I can’t believe that the Council does not want to spend money on repair and 19 
maintenance.  This very expensive system is important to our community and has not been fully 20 
utilized.    21 
 22 
Discussion followed. 23 
 24 
In conclusion, the City Recorder invited Steinke to come in and talk with her about the matter 25 
and to attend the Emergency Preparedness Committee meetings. 26 
 27 
XI. ADJOURN 28 
 29 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:25 PM. 30 
 31 
 32 
        _________________________________ 33 
                   Eric Sherman, Vice-President 34 
 35 
 36 
        37 
  Carla Duering, Deputy City Recorder 38 



 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 1 of 12 

 Conditional Use Permit Application 
 Case File: #4-CU-PC-23 
 Date Filed: Oct. 26, 2023 
 Application Complete: Nov. 2, 2023 
 Meeting Date: Jan. 10, 2024, 6:00 p.m. 
 120-day Decision Date: Feb. 23, 2024 
 
STAFF REPORT 
Depoe Bay Planning Commission Action 
 
APPLICANT:  Bay View Investments, LLC 
 
OWNER: Same as applicant 
  
REQUEST:  The applicant requests a Conditional Use Permit for a 2-unit townhouse development to be 
used as a tourist accommodation, where the proposed off-street parking provided will not comply with 
the requirements of Section 152.136(Q)(e) of the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance. 

A. RELEVANT FACTS: 
 

1. Property Location: The subject property is located in the 300-block of NE Williams Street, and 
is further identified on Lincoln County Assessor’s Map 09-11-05CA as Tax Lot 17802. 
 

 
 

2. Lot Size: The property totals 0.11 acre (5,000 sq. ft.). 

3. Zoning Designation:  Retail Commercial C-1 

4. Plan Designation:  Commercial 

5. Surrounding Land Use: Surrounding land use consists of single-family residential dwellings to 
the east, vacant land to the south, and tourist accommodations (Four Winds Motel, Whale Inn of 
Depoe Bay, and Suite Williams Vacation Rentals) to the west and north.  

Map & Tax Lot No. 09-11-05CA-17802 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 2 of 12 

6. Topography & Vegetation: The property slopes down from east to west. Site vegetation consists 
of weeds and grasses.   

7. Existing Structures: There are no structures on the property, but it does appear to contain a 
portion of a filled, abandoned swimming pool for the adjacent Four Winds Motel and a portion of 
the motel’s back driveway and parking area.  

8. Utilities:  The following utilities currently serve the subject property: 
a. Sewer:  City sewer service. 
b. Water:  City water service. 
c. Electricity:  Central Lincoln PUD.  

9. Development Constraints: None identified. 
 

B. EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST: 
 1. Relevant Criteria: 

 DBZO Section 152.030: Retail Commercial Zone C-1 
 DBZO Section 152.031: Commercial Zone C-1 Design Standards and Guidelines 
 DBZO Section 152.058: Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements 
 DBZO Section 152.130: Conditional Uses  
 DBZO Section 152.136(Q): Townhouse Developments 
 
Complete descriptions of the relevant criteria are attached to this Staff report. 
 

2. Applicant’s Proposal: The applicant initially submitted an application for a building permit to 
construct a 2-unit townhouse development on September 18, 2023, which was assigned Case File 
#5-C1-PC-23. Each unit is proposed to include three (3) bedrooms and two (2) bathrooms on two 
levels encompassing 1,852 square feet.1 Since the property is zoned C-1, the building permit 
application required Planning Commission review, pursuant to DBZO Section 152.203. 
 
In the course of reviewing the completeness of the building permit application, Staff confirmed 
with the applicant their intent to use the townhouse units as tourist accommodations, without 
providing the off-street parking spaces required pursuant to DBZO Section 152.136(Q)(18)(e). 
Therefore, the applicant subsequently submitted a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) application 
(Case File #4-CU-PC-23) on October 26, 2023, along with the following material: 
• Plot plan 
• Building plans 
 

3. Public Testimony:  Notice of this public hearing was mailed to property owners within a 250-
foot radius of the subject property on December 20, 2023, and was also published in the Newport 
News-Times on December 20, 2023. As of the date this report was complete, no public testimony 
has been received regarding this proposal. 

 
1 On July 13, 2022, the Planning Commission approved the applicant’s proposal for a building permit (Case File #1-

C1-PC-22) for a substantially-similar duplex on the abutting property at the southwesterly corner of NE Williams Avenue and 
NE Austin Street (Map & Tax Lot 09-11-05-CA-17801). The applicant obtained a building permit to construct the approved 
duplex, but has been unable construct it. The approval of Case File #1-C1-PC-22 predated the adoption of the City’s townhouse 
development regulations (Ordinance No. 336-23). 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 3 of 12 

 
Plot Plan 

 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 4 of 12 

 
Elevations 

 
C. SUMMARY AND STAFF ANALYSIS: The Planning Commission reviews the proposal for 

conformance with the appropriate standards of the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance (DBZO).  To 
facilitate review, Staff provides the following analysis: 
1. Retail Commercial C-1 Zone Standards: The C-1 zone does not specify a minimum required 

lot area, lot width, lot depth, or yards (building setbacks), except for a 10-foot setback requirement 
from adjacent residential zones. The 10-foot setback applies to the front yard of this lot, which 
abuts NE Williams Avenue. The C-1 zone has a maximum building height of 35 feet.   

 
 The C-1 lot standards and the proposed project are described in the table below. The table 

demonstrates that C-1 development standards are met. 
 

Standard Requirement Proposed 

Front Yard 10’ 20’-0” 
Rear Yard None 22’-0” 
Side Yards None 5’-0” N/5’-0” S 

Building Height 35’ Max. 28’-0” Max. 
 

 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 5 of 12 

2. Commercial Zone C-1 Design Standards and Guidelines:  DBZO Section 152.031(H)(1) 
requires a 5-foot-wide sidewalk to be provided along the street frontages of lots in the C-1 zone 
that do not abut N Highway 101. The subject property has 50 feet of frontage along NW Williams 
Avenue. The proposed development will be required to provide a 5-foot-wide sidewalk. 
 

3. Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Standards. Multi-family developments—including 
townhouse developments—are required to provide two (2) off-street parking spaces per dwelling 
unit, pursuant to DBZO Section 152.058(U). The project proposes to provide one (1) garage 
parking space and one (1) driveway parking space for each unit (4 parking spaces total), which 
satisfies the project’s off-street parking requirement if the units are used as owner-occupied or 
long-term rental units. However, the applicant’s proposed use of the dwelling units as tourist 
accommodations (i.e., short-term rental units) requires a greater off-street parking requirement 
based upon the bedroom count of each unit (8 parking spaces total), thereby requiring approval of 
a CUP as described below.  
 

4. Conditional Uses. Pursuant to DBZO Section 152.030(B)(24), townhouse developments that are 
not in full compliance with the provisions of DBZO Section 152.136(Q) are conditional uses in 
the C-1 zone. All uses permitted conditionally possess unique and special characteristics making 
impractical their inclusion as outright uses in many of the various use zones defined in the DBZO. 
Location and operation of designated conditional uses shall be reasonably compatible with 
adjacent uses and authorized only by issuance of a CUP. DBZO Section 152.131(B) provides the 
Planning Commission to impose conditions on the approval of conditional uses in order to address 
a wide variety of potential impacts. 

5. Standards Governing Conditional Uses. DBZO Section 152.136(Q) sets out standards and 
performance criteria that apply specifically to townhouse developments: 
(1) Overall residential density shall be as provided for in the applicable use zone or zones, 

i.e. the maximum number of townhouse dwelling units shall not exceed that allowed 
by the applicable zone. Density shall be computed based on the total gross land area 
of the subject property, excluding area devoted to commercial or other nonresidential 
uses. 
 
There is no maximum residential density standard in the C-1 zone. The proposed project 
is consistent with the maximum residential density that is allowed in the City’s R-4 zone 
(i.e., 2,500 square feet of lot area per dwelling unit). 
 

(2) Yards, setbacks, lot area, lot width, and lot depth requirements may be reduced, 
adjusted or otherwise modified with the permission of the Planning Commission. The 
exception to this is that all perimeter yards of the townhouse development that abut 
a lot in a residential zone shall adhere to the minimum yard and setback requirements 
on the abutting side. Where a subdivision is proposed to create individual townhouse 
lots, the interior side setbacks between abutting townhouses in a single building may 
be reduced to zero. 
 
The proposed project does not request adjustments to setbacks or lot sizes. It complies with 
the minimum required 10-foot setback from the abutting R-2 zone. 

 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 6 of 12 

(3) The minimum townhouse lot size in all zones shall be 700 sq. feet. 
 
The proposed townhouse lot size (footprint) of each unit is 1,001 square feet. 

 
(4) The minimum size housing dwelling unit of all types in all zones shall be 1,000 sq. 

feet. 
 
The total square footage of each dwelling unit is 1,852 square feet. 

 
(5) The maximum number of consecutive townhouses that may be constructed as a single 

building is six (6). There shall be a minimum of 10 feet provided between buildings. 
The street-facing front and side facades of each townhouse unit shall incorporate at 
least three (3) exterior design elements from the following table in order to reduce 
the appearance of bulk and mass: 

 
Select at least one (1) exterior design element from each column below: 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 
(a) A covered porch at 
least five feet deep. 

(e) One or more gabled 
dormers. 

(i) Decorative or 
 functional window   
shutters. 

(b) A balcony that is at 
least two feet deep and is 
accessible from an 
interior room. 

(f) A change in exterior 
finish materials or colors 
between abutting units 
and/or floors. 

(j) Pilasters or wide 
decorative molding 
surrounding doors. 

(c) A bay window 
measuring at least two 
feet wide. 

(g) A change in the 
rooflines of abutting units 
exceeding 3 feet. 

(k) Window boxes. 

(d) A section of the 
facade that is recessed by 
at least two feet in depth 
from the facade of an 
abutting unit, measuring 
at least six feet in length. 

(h) Steeply pitched roof 
with gable ends. 

 

 
The proposed project consists of two (2) abutting townhouses. The building exteriors 
incorporate covered entry porches (DBZO Section 152.136(Q)(5)(a)), gabled dormers 
(DBZO Section 152.136(Q)(5)(e)), and wide molding surrounding the entry doors (DBZO 
Section 152.136(Q)(5)(j)). 

 
(6) All electric and telephone facilities, fire alarm conduits, streetlight wiring, and other 

wiring, conduits, and similar facilities shall be placed underground. Satellite dishes, 
solar panels, and similar facilities that are only able to operate above ground are 
exempt from this provision. 
 
The proposed project would be conditioned to comply with these requirements. 
 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 7 of 12 

(7) The City may require easements necessary for orderly extension of public utilities to 
future adjacent developments. All utilities crossing property shall be underground. 
 
No new easements are expected to be necessary for this project.  

 
(8) Common areas, structures, and any other common entities reserved for use by 

owners or tenants and their guests must be subject to an association of owners or 
tenants created to form a non-profit corporation under the laws of the State of 
Oregon, and shall meet the requirements of Section 152.066 of the DBZO, as 
applicable. Said association shall be formed and continued for the purpose of 
governing and maintaining such common areas and structures. Minimum common 
areas shall be as follows: 
(a) Sidewalks 
(b) Common parking areas 
(c) Landscape areas along street frontages, and building setbacks 
(d) Roofs 
(e) Exterior walls, including windows, doors 
(f) Canopies on exterior along street and building frontage 
 
Staff interprets these provisions as applying more appropriately to townhouse 
developments involving subdivision and the creation of jointly-owned and -managed 
common areas (such as condominiums and timeshares). Both dwelling units will be owned 
by, and the building and grounds maintained by, a single property owner. Therefore, this 
standard should not apply to the proposed project. 
 

(9) Townhouse developments shall provide sidewalks along street frontage. Sidewalks 
shall be of a design and location acceptable to the City for the purpose of pedestrian 
use and drainage control (minimum five (5) foot wide in residential zones and sized 
to meet the Section 152.031 Commercial Zone C-1 - Design Standards & Guidelines 
in the nonresidential zones). 
 
The project will provide a 5-foot-wide sidewalk along NE Williams Avenue, as required 
pursuant to DBZO Section 152.031(H)(1). 
 

(10) Townhouse developments shall provide a minimum five (5) foot wide landscape area 
(excluding sidewalk) along all street frontages in all zones, except in the C-1 zone on 
arterials (Hwy. 101), where a minimum of eight (8) feet of landscaped grounds 
between the building and sidewalk is required. Townhouse developments shall be 
residentially landscaped and maintained similar to surrounding neighborhood 
development. Use of native vegetation shall be encouraged wherever possible. 

 
The proposed project would be conditioned to comply with these requirements. 

 
(11) Parking shall conform to Section 152.058 Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading 

Requirements and Diagram A, except for the minimum number of parking spaces 
required for tourist accommodation dwelling units (see subsection (Q)(18) below). All 
parking areas (circulation, vehicle access, and parking spaces) shall be paved. 
 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 8 of 12 

The proposed project complies with the off-street parking requirements for multi-family 
dwelling units that are owner-occupied or long-term rentals. However, it does not comply 
with the parking requirement for tourist accommodations specified in DBZO Section 
152.136(Q)(18), as discussed below. 
 

(12) Driveways, alleyways, and any other vehicle access shall be at the existing road grade 
level at the point the driveway meets the public right-of-way, and shall be consistent 
with the most recent Depoe Bay Transportation System Plan. In cases where the 
current developed road is not the full width of the public right-of-way, the vehicle 
access shall be at the elevation the road grade level would be as if the road were 
expanded to the edge of the public right-of-way. 
 
Driveway access to each dwelling unit shall be provided directly from NE Williams 
Avenue, as depicted on the proposed plot plan. 
 

(13) Solid waste disposal: One or more collection stations shall be provided for the entire 
development; it must be enclosed to the line-of-sight. Weekly solid waste pick-up is 
required during all months of the year. 
 
The proposed project would be conditioned to comply with these requirements. 

 
(14) Townhouse developments that include division of land are subject to applicable 

provisions of Sections 152.250-152.265, inclusive, of the DBZO except for the 25-foot 
of frontage on a public or private road or street requirement. 

 
 The proposed project does not involve subdivision of the property. 
 
(15) Any manufactured dwelling, home housing unit, prefabricated dwelling, or modular 

development at a minimum must meet the requirements of Section 152.071 of the 
DBZO. 

 
 The proposed project does not involve manufactured or modular structures subject to the 

provisions of DBZO Section 152.071. 
 
(16) Where this section conflicts with any other applicable requirement in the DBZO, the 

more stringent requirement shall prevail. 
 
 As discussed below, the more-restrictive parking standards for tourist accommodations 

described below apply to the proposed project. 
 
(17) Townhouse developments are not permitted to have tourist accommodations in 

residential zones unless approved per Section 152.042 Planned Development Zone. 
 
 The subject property is not located in a residential zone. 
 
(18) All townhouse development tourist accommodations are subject to the additional 

standards and requirements identified below: 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 9 of 12 

(a) All tourist accommodation dwelling units must be subject to a single 
association of owners or tenants created to form a non-profit corporation 
under the laws of the State of Oregon. Said association shall be formed and 
continued for the purpose of governing and maintaining as necessary, and 
shall meet the requirements of subsection (Q)(l7) above. TLT and TOT 
ordinances provisions shall apply as appropriate. 

(b) Each property owner and the property management company are required to 
have a City of Depoe Bay business license. 

(c) Occupancy shall not exceed two (2) persons per bedroom plus one (1) 
additional person per dwelling. 

(d) The management entity shall only have one exterior on-site sign for all the 
tourist accommodations of the townhouse development. The sign shall identify 
a local contact person; state that the local contact person is available 24 hours 
each day, 7 days a week to handle rentals and complaints; and identify the 
local contact person's business license number. An interior sign with the same 
information shall be placed inside each tourist accommodation in a noticeable 
location, e.g. near the front door or kitchen. 

(e) Off-street parking space requirements are one (1) parking space plus one (1) 
parking space for each bedroom that shall be located immediately adjacent to 
the unit. A minimum of three (3) parking spaces shall be provided per 
individual dwelling. 

 
The proposed project would be conditioned to comply with the requirements of subsections 
(a) through (d) above. However, the applicant requests permission to provide only two (2) 
parking spaces per dwelling unit, rather than the four (4) spaces that would otherwise be 
required pursuant to subsection (e) above (i.e., one (1) space per bedroom plus one (1) 
additional space). 
 
Tourist accommodations are permitted outright in the C-1 zone. However, the applicant 
asserts that the new townhouse parking standards cannot be accommodated on the project 
site, which is only 50’ wide and 100’ deep. They also note that the previously-approved 
duplex on the abutting lot (Case File#1-C1-PC-22) would not be held to the additional 
parking requirements for tourist accommodations since it was approved prior to their 
adoption. 
 
This is the first CUP application to be reviewed under the new townhouse development 
regulations. Aside from the parking requirement for tourist accommodations, the proposed 
project complies with all other provisions of DBZO Section 152.136(Q). The Planning 
Commission should determine if granting an exception to these parking requirements for 
the 2-unit townhouse development is warranted, given that all other applicable 
requirements are met.  

6. Erosion Control and Drainage Plan.  Prior to issuance of a building permit, the City’s Public 
Works Director shall review and approve an erosion control and drainage plan. 

7. Archaeological Resources.  All of the Depoe Bay planning area falls within the “high density” 
archaeological site density classification shown in the 1976 Lincoln County Statewide Inventory 
Historical Sites and Buildings, published by the Oregon State Historic Preservation Office, Parks 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 10 of 12 

and Recreation Branch, Department of Transportation. Although the property is not specifically 
identified as an archaeological site, the applicant needs to be aware of potential archaeological 
resources and take feasible action to minimize site disturbance and prevent irreversible loss of 
archaeological resources.  DBZO Section 152.075(B)(1) states that development on identified 
archaeological sites shall be conducted in a manner so as to minimize site disturbance and prevent 
irreversible loss of archaeological resources.  This does not require the property owner to hire an 
archaeologist, however, it does require the property owner to be cognizant of archaeological 
resources when developing the site. 

6. Period of Validity. Pursuant to DBZO Section 152.133, authorization of a conditional use permit 
shall be void after two (2) years unless substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken place. 

D. CONCLUSIONS:  In evaluating the request, the Planning Commission bases its decision on 
compliance with the applicable code standards.  If the Commission finds the request fails to satisfy 
the ordinance standards, it can move to deny the request, articulating the basic conclusions and 
rationale for the decision and directing Staff to prepare findings.   
 
If the Planning Commission finds the request satisfies the applicable criteria, it can move to approve 
the request and direct Staff to prepare findings.  In the event of an approval, Staff suggests the 
following conditions of approval: 
 
1. Retail Commercial C-1 Standards. Development shall be accomplished in conformance with 

applicable Retail Commercial C-1 standards. The structure shall provide a 20-foot front setback, 
a 22-foot rear setback, and 5-foot side setbacks. Maximum building height shall be twenty-eight 
feet (28’-0”). 

2. Commercial Zone C-1 Design Standards and Guidelines. The duplex townhouse shall meet the 
requirements of the applicable provisions of DBZO Section 152.031, including the requirement 
for a 5-foot-wide sidewalk along NE Williams Avenue in accordance with DBZO Section 
152.031(H)(1). 

3. Parking.  Parking requirements within the C-1 zone shall conform to DBZO Section 152.058 
“Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements.” Two (2) off-street parking spaces 
shall be provided for each dwelling unit. Driveways shall be hard surface paved. All required 
parking spaces shall measure at least eight (8) feet in width and twenty (20) feet in depth. 

4. Standards Governing Conditional Uses. The following conditions shall apply to the project as 
a conditionally-permitted use: 
a. The approved townhouse lot size (footprint) of each unit is 1,001 square feet. The approved 

square footage of each townhouse unit is 1,852 square feet. 
b. The approved project consists of two (2) abutting townhouses. The building exteriors shall 

incorporate covered entry porches, gabled dormers, and wide molding surrounding the entry 
doors. 

c. All electric and telephone facilities, fire alarm conduits, streetlight wiring, and other wiring, 
conduits, and similar facilities shall be placed underground. Satellite dishes, solar panels, and 
similar facilities that are only able to operate above ground are exempt from this requirement. 

d. The approved project shall provide a minimum five (5) foot wide landscape area along NE 
Williams Avenue. The development shall be residentially landscaped and maintained similar 



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 11 of 12 

to surrounding neighborhood development. Use of native vegetation shall be encouraged 
wherever possible. 

e. One (1) solid waste disposal collection station shall be provided for the development; it must 
be enclosed to the line-of-sight. Weekly solid waste pick-up is required during all months of 
the year. 

5. Tourist Accommodation. The following conditions shall apply to the approved project for use as 
a tourist accommodation: 
a. All tourist accommodation dwelling units must be subject to a single association of owners or 

tenants created to form a non-profit corporation under the laws of the State of Oregon. Said 
association shall be formed and continued for the purpose of governing and maintaining as 
necessary, and shall meet the requirements of DBZO Section 152.136(Q)(l7) above. TLT and 
TOT ordinances provisions shall apply as appropriate. 

b. Each property owner and the property management company are required to have a City of 
Depoe Bay business license. 

c. Occupancy shall not exceed two (2) persons per bedroom plus one (1) additional person per 
dwelling. 

d. The management entity shall only have one exterior on-site sign for all the tourist 
accommodations of the townhouse development. The sign shall identify a local contact person; 
state that the local contact person is available 24 hours each day, 7 days a week to handle 
rentals and complaints; and identify the local contact person's business license number. An 
interior sign with the same information shall be placed inside each tourist accommodation in 
a noticeable location, e.g. near the front door or kitchen. 

6. Erosion Control and Drainage Plan. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the City’s Public 
Works Director shall review and approve an erosion control and drainage plan. 

7. Archaeological Resources.  Development shall be conducted in a manner so as to minimize site 
disturbance and prevent irreversible loss of archaeological resources. Before and during 
excavation, any discovery of archaeological resources shall mean that the applicant shall cease 
excavation activities, notify the State Historic Preservation Office and Confederated Tribe of 
Siletz Indians, and meet State statutes before proceeding. 

8. Period of Validity. This approval shall be null and void after two (2) years from the effective date 
of the Planning Commission’s approval unless substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken 
place. 

Submitted by, 

 
Kit Fox, AICP 
City Planner 
 
  



#4-CU-PC-23 (Bay View Investments, LLC) 
January 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS CONDITIONAL USES/#4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS/STAFF REPORT Page 12 of 12 

Attachments: Application form 
  Plot plan and building plans 
    Site photos (taken 9-26-23) 
    Relevant DBZO criteria: 

• DBZO Section 152.030: Retail Commercial Zone C-1 
• DBZO Section 152.031: Commercial Zone C-1 Design Standards and Guidelines 
• DBZO Section 152.058: Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements 
• DBZO Section 152.130: Conditional Uses  
• DBZO Section 152.136(Q): Townhouse Developments (Ordinance No. 336-23) 
 





















































 

 



§ 152.030 RETAIL COMMERCIAL ZONE C-1.

   In a C-1 Zone, the following regulations shall apply.

   (A)   Uses permitted outright. In a C-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.225 through 152.235 where applicable:

      (1)   A single-family dwelling built on the site;

      (2)   Manufactured dwelling;

      (3)   A temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used for dwelling purposes during the construction of a
permitted use for which a building permit has been issued, provided the temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational
vehicle:

         (a)   Is located during the time the construction is underway; and

         (b)   Will not remain more than one year from date of placement or 30 days following substantial completion, whichever
is earlier.

      (4)   Agricultural use of land provided that no livestock shall be raised or kept on the premises;

      (5)   Recreational vehicle (unoccupied) or boat, stored on a lot in combination with an approved building;

      (6)   Pre-fabricated or modular dwelling;

      (7)   Two-family dwelling;

      (8)   Multi-family dwelling;

      (9)   Retail store or shop, such as food store, gift shop, drug store, apparel store, hardware store, furniture store, or
similar establishment;

      (10)   Repair shop for the type of goods offered for sale in those retail trade establishments permitted in a C-1 Zone
provided all repair shall occur entirely within an enclosed building;

      (11)   The manufacture, fabrication, and/or assembly of those goods offered for sale on the premises, provided all
manufacturing, fabricating, assembling, and storage not exceed 50% of the total floor area of the establishment, and
provided further that it shall occur within an enclosed building;

      (12)   Personal or business service establishment, such as barber or beauty shop, laundry or dry cleaning
establishment, tailor shop, or similar establishment;

      (13)   Clinic;

      (14)   Club, lodge, or fraternal organization;

      (15)   Financial institution;

      (16)   Indoor commercial amusement or recreation establishment, such as a bowling alley, theater, pool hall, or
aquarium;

      (17)   Mortuary;

      (18)   Newspaper office or print shop;

      (19)   Office;

      (20)   Private museum, art gallery, or similar facility;

      (21)   Restaurant, bar, or tavern;

      (22)   Home occupation;

      (23)   Automobile service station, including minor repair, provided it is conducted entirely within an enclosed building;

      (24)   Laundromat;

      (25)   Retail sale of sporting goods or bait;

      (26)   Condominiums;

      (27)   Public or private parking lots;

      (28)   Residential facility;

      (29)   Time share project;

      (30)   Tourist accommodation or resort; and

      (31)   Commercial fishing gear storage in the part of the zone adjacent to the harbor (Tax Map 09-11-08 AB, tax lots



600, 700, 800, 900, 1000, 1100, 1101, 1200, 1201, 7900, 8000, 8100, 8200, 90000, 90001, 90002, and 90003).

   (B)   Conditional uses permitted. In a C-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, 152.130 through 152.136, and 152.225 through
152.235, where applicable:

      (1)   Church, non-profit religious, or philanthropic institution;

      (2)   Community center;

      (3)   Day nursery, nursery school, kindergarten, or similar activity;

      (4)   Governmental structure or use of land;

      (5)   Mobile vending stand;

      (6)   Private non-commercial recreation club, such as tennis, swimming, or archery club;

      (7)   Public park, playground, or swimming pool;

      (8)   Public school or private school offering curricula similar to public school;

      (9)   Public or private utility facility;

      (10)   Radio or television transmitter or tower;

      (11)   Solid waste disposal transfer station;

      (12)   Recreational vehicle park;

      (13)   Outdoor commercial amusement or recreation establishment, such as miniature golf course or drive-in theater, but
not including uses, such as race track or automobile speedway;

      (14)   Hospital and/or nursing home;

      (15)   Drive-in services, such as a drive-in restaurant;

      (16)   Billboards;

      (17)   Kennel;

      (18)   Animal hospital;

      (19)   Automobile repair garage, provided all repair shall be conducted entirely within an enclosed building;

      (20)   Boat or marine equipment sales, service, storage, or rental; boat or marine equipment minor repair, provided all
such repair be conducted entirely within an enclosed building;

      (21)   Lumber or building materials, sales, and storage;

      (22)   Warehouse or storage area; and

      (23)   Child care.

   (C)   Standards. Except as provided in §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through
152.136, in any C-1 Zone, the following standards shall apply:

      (1)   All yards abutting a lot in a residential zone shall be a minimum of ten feet;

      (2)   No building in the C-1 Zone shall exceed a height of 35 feet;

      (3)   Outdoor storage shall be screened with a sight-obscuring fence; and

      (4)   Kennels shall be located:

         (a)   No closer than 75 feet from a residential zone; and

         (b)   No closer than 20 feet from a property line.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 130, passed 4-6-1987; Ord. 154,
passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 186, passed 12-22-1992; Ord. 187,
passed 2-16-1993; Ord. 217, passed 4-17-1995; Ord. 234, passed 12-16-1996; Ord. 268, passed 11-2-2004; Ord. 279,
passed - -2007; Ord. 327-21, passed 4-20-2021) Penalty, see § 152.999



§ 152.031 COMMERCIAL ZONE C-1.

   (A)   Applicability.

      (1)   The provisions of this section shall be applicable to § 152.030 of this subchapter. The provisions of this section shall
override any conflicts between provisions of this section and § 152.030 of this subchapter.

      (2)   Any structure lawfully permitted which is made non-conforming by adoption or amendment of this chapter is a non-
conforming structure. Existing structure non-conformities may continue indefinitely (grandfathered). Normal maintenance
and repairs are permitted that do not result in the alteration of the footprint, volume, or height of the structure.

   (B)   General information.

      (1)   In the Commercial Zone C-1 on arterials (specifically Highway 101), these commercial guidelines help create a
vibrant pedestrian environment by slowing traffic down, providing a storefront business friendly character to the street, and
especially by encouraging walking for the enjoyment of residents and visitors. To create a social and approachable
streetscape, the setback standards are flexible to encourage public spaces between sidewalks and building entrances (such
as, extra-wide sidewalks, plazas, squares, outdoor dining areas, and pocket parks). The addition of these pedestrian
amenities serves as informal gathering places for socializing, resting, and enhanced enjoyment of the city commercial
district.

      (2)   The standards encourage the formation of solid blocks of commercial and mixed-use buildings for individual
walkable districts that are tied to the overall business district.

      (3)   Along Highway 101, frontage, landscaping, building setbacks, and other pedestrian amenities sustain the feel of a
small community located between two state parks and vegetated corridors. These amenities will distinguish the city from
many cities and towns that have arterial development dominated by pavement, parking lots, and stark building facades
immediately adjacent to narrow sidewalks.

      (4)   Higher density residential uses, such as multi-family buildings and attached townhomes, are permitted to encourage
permanent housing near employment, shopping, and services, and to encourage affordable, amiable housing for families
that desire to play and live in the city.

   (C)   Building setbacks.

      (1)   Generally. These setback standards shall apply to primary structures, as well as accessory structures on arterials
(Highway 101). The standards may be modified only by approval of a variance in accordance with §§ 152.170 through
152.173 of this chapter.

      (2)   Front yard setbacks.

         (a)   Minimum setback. There is no minimum front yard setback required.

         (b)   Maximum setback. There is no maximum front yard setback required, but a usable public space with pedestrian
amenities (such as, plaza, pocket park, managed landscaping, outdoor dining area, or town square with seating) shall be
provided in the entire area between the building and front property line (see also divisions (G) and (H) below).

      (3)   Rear yard setbacks. There is no minimum rear yard setback.

      (4)   Side yard setbacks. There is no minimum side yard setback required but in the case of a side yard on a corner lot, a
usable public space with pedestrian amenities (such as, extra-wide sidewalk, plaza, pocket park, managed landscaping,
outdoor dining area, or town square with seating) shall be provided in the entire area between the building and side property
line (see also divisions (G) and (H) below).

      (5)   Clear vision standards. All buildings shall conform to the clear vision standards in § 152.055 of this chapter and the
applicable fire and building codes for attached structures, fire walls, and related requirements.

   (D)   Lot coverage of buildings on arterials (Highway 101).

      (1)   There is no maximum or minimum lot coverage requirement.

      (2)   All buildings on arterials (Highway 101) shall have a minimum 1,000 square feet.

   (E)   Building orientation on arterials (Highway 101).

      (1)   Buildings shall have their primary entrance(s) oriented to (facing) Highway 101, except as noted below.

         (a)   Building entrances may include entrances to individual units, lobby entrances, entrances oriented to pedestrian
plazas, or breezeway/courtyard entrances (such as, to a cluster of units or commercial spaces).

         (b)   Alternatively, a building may have its entrance facing a side yard when a direct pedestrian walkway not exceeding
20 feet in length is provided between the building entrance and the street right-of-way.

         (c)   On corner lots, buildings entrances may be oriented to the street corner.

      (2)   Developments may be configured to provide a driveway or interior parking court. If interior parking courts are
created, then pedestrian pathways shall be provided between buildings from the street right-of-way to interior parking courts,



to ensure reasonably safe, direct, and convenient access to building entrances and off-street parking.

      (3)   Off-street parking, driveways, or other vehicular circulation shall not be placed between a building and Highway 101.

   (F)   Building height on arterials (Highway 101).

      (1)   Maximum height of buildings shall not exceed a height of 35 feet.

      (2)   (a)   Building height shall be measured at the front of the building from the lowest point from the adjacent sidewalk,
or the existing paved street elevation where a sidewalk does not currently exist. For corner lots and through lots, the front
shall be along the major street.

         (b)   The one exception to the above is on the west side of Highway 101 from Sunset Street to the bridge where
building height is measured in accordance with § 152.003 of this chapter.

   (G)   Building architectural standards.

      (1)   This section applies to all building types on arterials (Highway 101).

      (2)   All buildings along Highway 101 shall contribute to the storefront character and visual relatedness of the city’s C-1
Zone buildings. This criterion shall be met by providing architectural features as listed in divisions (G)(2)(a) through (G)(2)(d)
below, in the front or “main street” facade or elevation, as applicable. Buildings situated on corners shall include the stated
criteria in the side street elevation or facade as well. Buildings on through-lots (lots that face a street along the front and rear
of the property) shall treat the secondary street facade in a manner similar to that as the main street facade is treated.
Additionally, if the architectural character along the secondary street is other than commercial, that facade should be
compatible with the architectural character of that neighborhood as much as possible while maintaining the architectural
integrity of the main building.

         (a)   Fenestration and decoration. Appropriately spaced and/or shaped windows with window hoods, cornices, and/or
canopies or special trim at all windows on all building stories. Windows shall be of a design that is consistent with the
architectural character of the building and as described in this section.

         (b)   Display windows. Large display windows shall be provided on the ground floor and shall be set off by extended
mullions, applied columns, or a storefront cornice to separate the ground floor from upper stories. Street ground floor
exterior walls shall contain a minimum of 50% of either display windows or entrance area measured across the length of the
exterior wall. Display windows are not required for residential or tourist accommodation uses. For all building types and
uses, floors facing streets shall not have less than 25% window area measured across the length of the exterior wall.
Proportion of windows shall conform to general architectural standards.

         (c)   Decoration. Decorative cornices and/or fascias on street facades at top of building (flat roof), or eaves on buildings
with pitched roofs and/or expressions of roof structure, such as projected roof trusses or decorative roof overhangs.

         (d)   Additional design features. A minimum of two of the following design features are required:

            1.   Cedar shake shingle appearance for the roof and siding;

            2.   A steeply pitched roof with gable ends;

            3.   Multiple dormers;

            4.   Shutters by windows;

            5.   Window boxes;

            6.   Pilasters surrounding doors; and

            7.   Bright white trim.

      (3)   Other than receptacles for the public use, trash containers (including recyclables and garbage) shall not be located
along Highway 101, unless they are non-conforming (“grandfathered”), and shall be obscured by a fence or similar, or
otherwise hidden from view.

      (4)   A minimum 15% of C-1 properties with Highway 101 frontage north of Bradford Street and south of Evans Street
shall be landscaped with native vegetation including a mix of trees, shrubs, and ground cover. Properties shall contain at
least one tree indigenous to the northwest.

   (H)   Pedestrian amenities in the C-1 Zone.

      (1)   Pedestrian sidewalks shall be provided on all street sides of buildings, parking areas, and the like in the entire C-1
zoned area. These sidewalks shall have a minimum eight-foot width along Highway 101, and minimum five-foot width
elsewhere. Sidewalks shall be concrete with a city-approved surface material that is consistent with adjacent and nearby
sidewalks. All sidewalks shall be ADA compliant to meet current laws.

      (2)   Every building and development on arterials (Highway 101) shall provide one or more of the “pedestrian amenities”
listed below:

         (a)   A managed landscaped plaza, courtyard, square, or recessed area next to the building;



         (b)   Sitting space, such as dining area, benches, or sitting ledges (minimum of 16 inches in height and 30 inches in
width) between the building and sidewalk;

         (c)   Building canopy, awning, pergola, or similar weather protection (minimum projection of four feet over a sidewalk
or other pedestrian space, and minimum eight-foot above the sidewalk or other pedestrian space); or

         (d)   Multi-family housing and tourist accommodations that do not have a majority (greater than 75%) of retail on the
ground floor shall have a minimum of eight feet of landscaped grounds between the building(s) and sidewalk.

   (I)   Special standards for certain uses in the C-1 Zone.

      (1)   Common areas. All common areas (such as, walkways, drives, courtyards, private alleys, parking courts,
landscaped areas, and any otherwise unused right-of-way areas between the property line and developed road, and the like)
and building exteriors shall be maintained by the property owner. Copies of any applicable covenants, restrictions, and
conditions shall be recorded by the applicable agency and provided to the city prior to building permit approval.

      (2)   Accessory uses and structures.

         (a)   An accessory structure shall not be allowed before or without a primary use.

         (b)   Accessory structures on arterial (Highway 101) property shall comply with the setback standards herein, except
that the maximum setback provisions shall not apply.

         (c)   Accessory structures on arterial (Highway 101) property shall comply with division (G) above.

         (d)   A structure shall not be placed over an easement that prohibits such placement. No structure shall encroach into
the public right-of-way without prior written approval by the applicable agency.

         (e)   The owner may be required to remove an accessory structure as a condition of land division approval when
removal of the structure is necessary to comply with setback standards.

         (f)   No accessory use structure shall be viewable from Highway 101.

   (J)   Parking, garages, and driveways in the C-1 Zone.

      (1)   Parking requirements within the C-1 Zone shall conform to § 152.058 of this chapter. Parking-related provisions of
this section shall supersede provisions of § 152.058 of this chapter that are expressly contrary to this section. The required
size of parking spaces, aisles, driveways, and similar design features are set forth in Diagram A below. Due to the increased
length of vehicles, longer parking spaces are highly recommended. No “compact” sized spaces are allowed.

      (2)   If an existing commercial building is presently non-conforming in regards to parking (“grandfathered”), increasing the
square footage of the building will not require the building owner/developer to fulfill the existing non-conforming portion of
the parking space requirement. The owner/developer will be required to fulfill any additional parking requirement relating to
the increased square footage.

      (3)   (a)   All off-street paved vehicle areas along arterials (Highway 101), including surface lots, driveways, parking
areas, and garages, shall be accessed from alleys or a side or back street, and shall be located in areas located behind or to
the side of a building.

         (b)   They may be placed in structures above the ground floor.

         (c)   Side yards on corner lots shall not be used for surface parking.

         (d)   Parking areas on the side of a building shall be limited to one row of diagonal parking maximum.

         (e)   All garage entrances facing a street (such as, structured parking) shall be recessed behind the front elevation by a
minimum of four feet.

         (f)   On corner lots, garage entrances and driveways shall be oriented to a side street (such as, away from Highway
101 when vehicle access cannot be provided from an alley).

         (g)   Parking areas or parking spaces shall not be placed in front of a building on arterials (Highway 101), other than
the public parking spaces provided within the public right-of-way.

      (4)   Between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on any day, no individual who works or resides in the C-1 Zone shall park a
vehicle on Highway 101 north of the Depoe Bay Bridge while in their place of employment or in their place of residence,
except for vehicles with authorized disabled placards. One exception is on the west side of Highway 101 from Sunset Street
south to Whale Park Memorial Wall (Bradford Street). Tourist transients are also excluded. No structure in the applicable
area shall be considered non-conforming or (“grandfathered”) from this specific standard.

      (5)   Driveways, alleyways, and any other vehicle access shall be hard-surface paved and shall be at the existing road
grade level at the point the driveway meets the public right-of-way. In cases where the current developed road is not the full
width of the public right-of-way, the vehicle access shall be at the elevation the road grade level would be as if the road were
expanded to the edge of the public right-of-way.

      (6)   Regardless of use, all parking lots, parking areas, parking courts, and parking spaces shall be hard-surface paved
and striped for individual parking spaces. The parking spaces along the outer boundaries of a lot or parking area shall



contain a curb or bumper rail at least four inches high and set back four feet from the front of the space. At least 5% of
parking areas over six stalls shall be landscaped.

(Ord. 319, passed 10-1-2019) Penalty, see § 152.999



§ 152.058 OFF-STREET PARKING AND OFF-STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS.

   At the time a new structure is erected or the square footage is increased, or the use of the structure is changed, off-street
parking spaces, loading areas, and access thereto shall be provided as set forth in this section.

   (A)   Requirements for types of buildings and uses not specifically listed herein shall be determined by the Planning
Commission, based upon the requirements of comparable uses listed.

   (B)   In the event several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land, the total requirements shall be the sum of the
several uses computed separately.

   (C)   Owners of two or more uses, structures, or parcels of land may agree to jointly utilize the same parking and loading
spaces when the hours of operation do not overlap, provided that satisfactory legal evidence is presented to the Planning
Commission in the form of deeds, leases, or contracts to establish the joint use and hours of operation.

   (D)   Off-street parking spaces for dwellings, hotels, motels, resorts, and time-shares shall be located on the same lot or on
a lot immediately adjacent to the lot served by such parking.

   (E)   Required parking spaces shall be available for the parking of operable passenger automobiles of residents,
customers, patrons, and employees only, and shall not be used for storage of vehicles or materials or for the parking of
trucks used in conducting the business or use.

   (F)   Areas used for standing and maneuvering of vehicles shall have durable and dustless surfaces improved adequately
for all-weather use, and shall be adequately maintained. Drainage shall conform to the city’s storm water master plan and a
drainage plan shall be approved the city field superintendent.

   (G)   Except for parking to serve dwelling uses, parking and loading areas adjacent to or within residential zones, or
adjacent to Highway 101, or residential uses shall be designed to minimize visual impacts by use of landscaping or by a
fence screened by landscaping.

   (H)   Parking areas used for public or private parking lots under the conditional use in an R-4 Zone must have garbage
containers available for garbage which may be generated by users of the parking lot. Such garbage containers must be
emptied on a regular basis and not less than weekly. Parking lots shall be posted with the following sign: “no camping or
overnight use” and shall have their hours posted. Parking lot hours shall not extend beyond 10:00 p.m. or open earlier than
4:00 a.m. If the property fails to enforce the parking prohibitions, the Planning Commission may review and consider
whether or not to revoke the conditional use permit.

   (I)   Parking spaces along the outer boundaries of a lot shall contain a curb or bumper rail at least four inches high and set
back four feet from the front of the space.

   (J)   Artificial lighting may be used in parking areas provided it is of low intensity, is pointed generally downward, and is
shielded if necessary so as to not create light or glare off-site.

   (K)   Except with respect to approved driveways, required off-street parking areas shall not be provided in the required
front or street side yard areas in a residential zone.

   (L)   Groups of more than four parking spaces shall be served by a driveway so that no backing movements or other
maneuvering within a street, other than an alley, will be required.

   (M)   A driveway designed for continuous forward flow of passenger vehicles for the purpose of loading and unloading
children shall be located on the site of any school having a capacity greater than 25 students.

   (N)   Buildings or structures which receive and distribute material or merchandise by truck shall provide and maintain off-
street loading berths of sufficient numbers and size to handle the needs of the particular use. Off-street parking areas used
to fulfill the requirements of this section may be used for loading and unloading operations during periods of the day when
not required to take care of parking needs.

   (O)   All spaces shall be permanently and clearly marked. Markings which guide safe and efficient traffic flow shall also be
permanently and clearly marked. All markings shall be replaced regularly to remain visible.

   (P)   All improvements, including surfacing, storm water management, striping, and landscaping shall be fully maintained
for the life of the parking facility. Failure to maintain such improvements shall constitute a violation of this chapter.

   (Q)   All parking lots shall be designed with spaces for handicapped drivers as provided for in the Building Code.

   (R)   The clear vision requirements set forth in § 152.055 of this subchapter shall apply to all parking lots at the intersection
of two streets or a street and an alley.

   (S)   For C-1 Retail Commercial Zoned properties, off-street parking requirements shall be located on the same lot or
within 500 feet (as measured by a direct line from the nearest property line to the nearest property line of the parking lot).

      (1)   On-street parking spaces that front the lot and are adjacent (on the same side of the street) may be counted in the
required parking. Over one-half of the parking space shall be directly within the street frontage of the lot in order to be
counted in the required parking.

      (2)   When the square footage of a business or structure is increased, or the use is changed, only the spaces associated



with the increased square footage or area of change must be added.

      (3)   No person who works or resides in properties fronting Highway 101 shall park a vehicle on Highway 101 while in his
or her place of employment, or in his or her residence between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on any day. Single-family dwellings
are exempt.

      (4)   Parking on Highway 101 is limited to four hours between 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m.

      (5)   All parking shall be general purpose parking/public parking with the exception of residential uses which may have
designated off-street parking spaces. If required parking is off-site but within 500 feet, the applicant must provide written
documentation from the property owner authorizing the parking. If a variance to parking requirements is pursued, the
applicant shall demonstrate that off-site parking is not available within 500 feet.

   (T)   Off-street parking space requirements:

Animal hospital or kennel 1 space per 500 square feet
Any single- or multi-family residential use, including
condominium or time share 2 spaces per unit

Church, auditorium, meeting place, theater, gymnasium,
mortuary, or similar place of assembly

1 space for each 50 square feet of floor area used for
assembly

Dance hall, skating rink, pool hall, aquarium, bowling alley,
or similar commercial amusement enterprise 1 space for each 100 square feet of floor area

Day care, nursery school, kindergarten, elementary and
middle schools, and similar uses

2 spaces per classroom or instructional area, plus
requirements for offices, places of assembly, and the like

Financial institution, laboratory, or office 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area

Golf courses 5 spaces per hole, plus the 75% the ancillary parking
requirements

High schools 8 spaces per classroom or instructional area, plus
requirements for offices, places of assembly, and the like

Hospital 3 spaces for each 2 beds
Laundromat 1 space per three machines
Library or similar facility 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area
Manufacturing, fabrication, assembly, processing,
cabinetry, or similar use 1 space for each 1,000 square feet of floor area

Marina or other moorage facility 1 space per boat mooring space
Medical or dental clinic 1 space for each 200 square feet of floor area
Miniature golf 1.5 spaces per hole
Nursing home, residential facility, residential home, or
retirement home 1 space for each 3 beds

Personal or business service 1 space per 250 square feet
Public or private swimming pool 1 space per 100 square feet
Recreational vehicle park 3 spaces for each two RV spaces

Restaurants and bars
1 space for each 100 square feet of serving area (total floor
area where public is allowed, excluding restrooms and
other specified uses, such as designated retail space)

Retail store not handling bulky merchandise 1 space for each 350 square feet of floor area
Service or repair shop; retail store handling bulky
merchandise, such as automobiles, furniture, boats, marine
equipment, and the like; automobile service station, feed
and seed; heavy equipment; lumber or building supplies; or
similar uses

1 space for each 600 square feet of sales, storage, or repair
area

Tourist accommodation 1 space for each guest accommodation
Warehouse, storage, and wholesale business 1 space for each 2000 square feet of area

 

   (U)   The required size of parking spaces, aisles, driveways, and similar design features are set forth in Diagram A.
Required landscaping areas are not shown.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 124, passed 7-1-1985; Ord. 130,
passed 4-6-1987; Ord. 145, passed 1-3-1989; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 234, passed
12-16-1996; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 279, passed - -2007)



CONDITIONAL USES
§ 152.130 PURPOSE.

   Certain types of uses require special consideration prior to their being permitted in a particular zone. The reasons for
requiring such special consideration include, among others, the size of the area required for the full development of such
uses, the nature of the traffic problems incidental to operation of the uses, and the effect such uses have on adjoining land
uses and on the growth and development of the city as a whole. All uses permitted conditionally possess unique and special
characteristics making impractical their inclusion as outright uses in many of the various zones herein defined. Location and
operation of designated conditional uses shall be reasonably compatible with adjacent uses and authorized only by issuance
of a conditional use permit.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 93, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 154, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172,
passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.131 AUTHORIZATION TO GRANT OR DENY CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT.

   Conditional uses listed may be permitted, enlarged, or altered upon authorization by the Planning Commission in
accordance with the standards and procedures set herein.

   (A)   In taking action on a conditional use permit application, the Planning Commission may permit or deny the application.

   (B)   In approving a conditional use request or the modification of a conditional use, the Planning Commission may
impose, in addition to those standards and requirements expressly specified by this subchapter, additional conditions which
are considered necessary to protect the best interests of the surrounding area or the city as a whole. These conditions may
include, but are not limited to, the following:

      (1)   Increasing the required lot size or yard dimensions;

      (2)   Limiting the height of buildings;

      (3)   Controlling the location and number of vehicle access points;

      (4)   Increasing or decreasing the street width;

      (5)   Increasing the number of required off-street parking spaces;

      (6)   Limiting the number, size, location, and lighting of signs;

      (7)   Requiring fencing, screening, landscaping, berming, or other facilities to minimize impacts on adjacent or nearby
property, to a height appropriate for the facility as approved by the Planning Commission;

      (8)   Designating sites for open space;

      (9)   Setting a time limit for which the conditional use is approved;

      (10)   Site reclamation upon discontinuance of use;

      (11)   Requiring a waiver of remonstrance;

      (12)   Limiting hours of operation; and

      (13)   Determining the appropriate location, direction, and intensity of lighting.

   (C)   In the case of a use existing prior to and classified in this chapter as a conditional use, a change in use or lot area or
an alteration of structure shall conform with the requirements for conditional use.

   (D)   The Planning Commission may require, or the city may require, that an applicant obtaining a conditional use permit
furnish the city with a performance agreement of up to the value of the cost of the improvement to be guaranteed by such
agreement, in order to assure that the conditional use is completed according to the plans as approved by the Planning
Commission.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 93, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 154, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172,
passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.132 BUILDING PERMIT FOR AN APPROVED CONDITIONAL USE.

   Building permits for all or any portion of a conditional use shall be issued only on the basis of the plan as approved by the
Planning Commission. Any substantial change in the approved plan shall be resubmitted to the Planning Commission as a
new application for a conditional use.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 93, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 154, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172,
passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.133 TIME LIMIT ON A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT.

   Approval of a conditional use shall be void two years after the effective date of the decision if the authorized development



action is not initiated in that period. As used in this section, INITIATED means that building permits or other necessary
approvals have been secured and exercised or maintained valid, or, if no such approvals are required, that the authorized
use has been established.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 93, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 154, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172,
passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.134 REVOCATION OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT.

   (A)   Any permit granted hereunder shall be subject to revocation by the Planning Commission if the application includes or
included any false information, or if it is determined that the conditions of approval have not been complied with or are not
being maintained, or the conditional use becomes detrimental to public health, safety, or welfare.

   (B)   In order to consider revocation of a conditional use permit, the Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing as
prescribed under § 152.206 of this chapter in order for the permit holder to show cause why such permit should not be
revoked. If the Planning Commission finds that the conditions of permit approval have not been complied with or are not
being maintained, a reasonable time shall be given for rectification, and if corrections are not made within that time,
revocation of the permit shall become effective. The Planning Commission shall revoke the permit, specifying the effective
date of such revocation.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 93, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 154, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172,
passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.135 REAPPLICATION LIMIT.

   Reapplication for conditional use permits cannot be made within one year after revocation or denial, except that the
Planning Commission may allow a new application if, in its opinion, new evidence or a change in circumstances warrants it.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 93, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 154, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172,
passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.136 STANDARDS GOVERNING CONDITIONAL USES.

   In addition to the standards of the zone in which the conditional use is located and other standards of this chapter,
conditional uses shall meet the following standards.

   (A)   The site under consideration is suitable for the proposed use considering:

      (1)   The size, design, and operating characteristics of the use;

      (2)   The adequacy of transportation access to the site;

      (3)   The natural and physical features of the site, such as general topography and natural resource values;

      (4)   The proposed use is compatible with existing and permitted uses on adjacent lands, considering the factors in
division (A)(1) above;

      (5)   Any lighting provided shall not shine or glare onto adjoining streets or properties. Suggest using lights of low stature
with shielding. The applicant shall demonstrate through a lighting plan that this standard is met; and

      (6)   Landscaping shall be designed to provide adequate vegetative cover.

   (B)   Special setback requirements.

      (1)   Buildings and pens, which are a part of kennels and animal hospitals, and active recreation use areas which are a
part of outdoor commercial amusement or recreation establishments, shall be located no closer than 75 feet from a
residential zone.

      (2)   Clubs, lodges, or fraternal organizations in an R-4 Zone, and community swimming pools and buildings housing
recreational facilities in residential zones, shall be located no closer than 30 feet from any other lot in a residential zone.

   (C)   Standards for cemeteries. Land used or intended to be used for the burial of the dead. Cemeteries may include
columbarium, crematoria, mausoleums, and mortuaries within their boundaries.

      (1)   The minimum lot area for earthen burial purposes only shall be two acres.

      (2)   The minimum lot size when a columbarium, crematorium, mausoleum, or mortuary is included in the cemetery shall
be five acres.

      (3)   Cemeteries shall be landscaped and there shall be a buffer as determined by the Planning Commission.

      (4)   A plat of the cemetery must be recorded in accordance with the applicable state statute.

      (5)   No cemetery lots shall be sold prior to development and approval of an irrigation system for grounds maintenance.

      (6)   The maximum sign area shall be 20 feet.

      (7)   All uses must comply with the applicable state standards.



   (D)   Standards for day care facilities. Day care facilities are permitted subject to the following.

      (1)   The minimum front and rear yards shall be 20 feet.

      (2)   The minimum side yard shall be ten feet.

      (3)   All state and county licensing and health department requirements must be met.

      (4)   There shall be a maximum lot coverage of 40%.

      (5)   The minimum lot area for day care facilities in a residential district or adjacent to a residential district shall be a
minimum 10,000 square feet.

      (6)   The Planning Commission may require a fenced outdoor play area be provided.

      (7)   Child care provided at a public or private school for before and/or after school care, exclusively for students
affiliated with the school, is not subject to the requirements of this section.

   (E)   Standards for drive-in or drive-up establishment. Access shall be determined based on a site review which considers
the following:

      (1)   Site size;

      (2)   Road classification;

      (3)   Sight distance and allowed mph;

      (4)   Adjacent development;

      (5)   Driveway entrances and exits shall be clearly marked;

      (6)   Drive-in facilities located in the parking lot on part of a larger commercial center shall not have separate access
points to the street and shall utilize the center’s access points; and

      (7)   Lighting, sign illumination and height, and hours of operation may be restricted to ensure compatibility with
surrounding land uses.

   (F)   Standards for golf courses. A golf course is an area of land with highly maintained turf laid out for the game of golf,
generally with a series of nine or more holes, each including a tee, a fairway, a putting green, and often one or more natural
or artificial hazards. For the purposes of this section, a golf course includes executive golf courses and par three courses. A
golf course does not include pitch and putt golf courses, miniature golf courses, and driving ranges.

      (1)   The course shall be situated so that it does not create any hazards to existing developed properties.

      (2)   The maximum sign area shall be 35 square feet.

      (3)   Required minimum setbacks to any primary structure shall be 100 feet.

      (4)   When driving ranges are to be included as part of the golf course:

         (a)   Hours of operation shall be limited so that outdoor lighting is not required;

         (b)   The range shall be located in such a manner that the lights do not shine outside the perimeter of the golf course;
or

         (c)   Screen over six feet in height shall be located at least 100 feet from the property line.

      (5)   Accessory uses to a golf course include but are not limited to parking, maintenance buildings, cart storage and
repair, pro shop, driving range, and eating and drinking facilities.

   (G)   Standards for home occupation.

      (1)   The home occupation shall be secondary to the main use of the property as a residence.

      (2)   The home occupation shall be limited to either an accessory structure or to not over 25% of the floor area of the
dwelling. If located within an accessory structure, the home occupation shall not utilize over 600 square feet of floor area.

      (3)   No person other than members of the immediate family residing in the dwelling is to be engaged in the home
occupation.

      (4)   No window display and no sample commodities displayed outside the building shall be allowed. One unlighted sign
not exceeding one and one-half square feet in area shall be permitted. The sign shall either be attached to the exterior of the
building, placed in a window of the building, or, if detached from the building, shall not be located in a required front or street
side yard.

      (5)   No on-site sale of or stock commodities, kept or purchased for sale, which are not produced on the premises shall
be allowed.

      (6)   The home occupation shall not interfere with the existing uses on the property on which it is located, or the existing
or permitted uses on adjacent properties.



      (7)   No materials or mechanical equipment shall be used which is detrimental to the residential use of the dwelling or
adjoining dwellings because of vibration, noise, dust, smoke, odor, interference with radio or television reception, or other
factors.

      (8)   Business related vehicular or pedestrian traffic shall not create unreasonable congestion in the neighborhood.

      (9)   No materials or commodities shall be delivered to or from the residence which are of such bulk or quantity as to
create undesirable traffic or congestion.

      (10)   No parking of customer’s vehicles in a manner or frequency so as to cause disturbance or inconvenience to
nearby residents, or so as to necessitate off-street parking shall be allowed.

      (11)   Nothing in this section shall authorize the permitting of construction of any structure that would not otherwise be
allowed in the zone in which the home occupation is to be, or is established.

      (12)   No noise, lights, dust, smoke, odors, or electromagnetic frequencies generated which interferes with surrounding
residential or commercial uses, such as, telephone, television, radio, or computer.

      (13)   No storage or use of any materials which present an increased risk of hazard or danger (such as, explosion,
pollution generation, or fire) to the dwelling, the premises or surrounding structures as compared to domestic use products
found within dwellings shall occur.

      (14)   A city business license is obtained and maintained in good standing for the location.

   (H)   Standards for mini-storage.

      (1)   The plan for the mini-storage operation, including signs, structure elevations, painting, plot plan and materials, shall
be submitted for review and approval.

      (2)   Each individual space for rent or sale shall be less than 500 square feet.

      (3)   Mini-storage shall be limited to dead storage. Outside storage shall be limited to boats, recreational vehicles. and
similar vehicles placed within a designated, dust-free surfaced area surrounded by a sight-obscuring six-foot fence.

      (4)   Yards shall be permanently landscaped and yard dimensions adjacent to residential zones shall be the same as
within the residential zone.

      (5)   One parking space for each 25 cubicles located at the project office shall be required for use of prospective clients.

      (6)   Sight-obscuring screening shall be required to a height appropriate for the facility as approved by the Planning
Commission, and shall be accomplished with vegetation, or fencing landscaped with vegetation, to minimize impacts on
adjacent properties.

      (7)   The traffic lane shall be 12 feet wide and have a ten-foot parking lane. except where the traffic lane does not serve
storage cubicles. All areas providing for vehicle access, parking, and movement shall be improved to minimum public road
standards.

      (8)   Change of use to another use, such as retail sales or repair services shall require reapplication and conformity to
applicable state laws and ordinances.

      (9)   An on-site caretaker or 24-hour on-site manager may be permitted.

      (10)   There shall be only one access from each adjacent street.

      (11)   Outside lighting may be required for all structures.

   (I)   Standards for mobile home/manufactured dwelling and recreational vehicle parks. A mobile home/manufactured
dwelling park or recreational park may be permitted as a conditional use, if authorized in the underlying zone, if it further
meets the requirements of the applicable state statute and the standards of the Oregon Board of Health. In addition, the
following minimum standards shall apply.

Mobile Home/
Manufactured Dwelling
Park R-3 Zone Vehicles

Mobile Home/
Manufactured Dwelling

Park Other Zones
Recreational

Mobile Home/
Manufactured Dwelling
Park R-3 Zone Vehicles

Mobile Home/
Manufactured Dwelling

Park Other Zones
Recreational

Minimum size of park 4 spaces 4 spaces 2 acres
Minimum size of space 5,000 square feet 4,000 square feet 2,000 square feet
Minimum width of space 50 feet 40 feet 30 feet
Minimum length of space 80 feet 80 feet 60 feet
Minimum distance between space
and street right-of-way 20 feet 20 feet 20 feet



Minimum distance between
spaces and all other property
lines

20 feet 15 feet 10 feet

Minimum distance between
units 20 feet 15 feet 10 feet

Minimum distance between
dwelling or recreational vehicle
and community or service
buildings

30 feet 30 feet 20 feet

 

      (1)   Each access road connection with a public street shall have a surface width of at least 30 feet and all other access
roads shall have a surface width of at least 20 feet. All access roads and parking areas and walkways shall be surfaced to
minimum city road standards and be well drained. Walkways not less than three feet wide may be required to be provided
from manufactured dwellings or recreational vehicle spaces to community and service buildings. All access roads and
walkways shall be well lighted.

      (2)   Developed recreation area shall be provided which contains a minimum of 2,500 square feet or 200 square feet per
manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle space, whichever requirement is greater.

      (3)   All areas not used for manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle spaces, motor vehicles, parking, traffic
circulation, or service or community buildings, shall be completely and permanently landscaped. The landscaping shall be
maintained in good condition.

      (4)   Sight-obscuring screening shall be required to a height appropriate for the facility as approved by the Planning
Commission, and shall be accomplished with vegetation, or fencing landscaped with vegetation, to minimize impacts on
adjacent properties.

   (J)   Standards for mobile vending stands.

      (1)   No person shall operate a mobile vending stand without having obtained a business license.

      (2)   No person shall conduct or do business from a mobile vending stand on any public right-of-way, street, sidewalk, or
public property. The selling of merchandise or conducting of business from a mobile vending stand shall only be done upon
private property.

      (3)   No person shall operate a mobile vending stand, or sell any food, soft drink, or non-alcoholic beverage dispensed
from a mobile vending stand unless the mobile vending stand has been inspected by the Building Official and by the State
Fire Marshal if the mobile vending stand has a cooking or heating apparatus. The Building Official shall determine that the
stand is structurally and mechanically sound, and the design will not create a nuisance of hazard to the public. The State
Fire Marshal shall determine that any cooking or heating apparatus is in conformance with the provisions of applicable fire
codes.

      (4)   No person shall conduct or do business from a mobile vending stand unless proof is submitted to the city that all
health and sanitary permits required by the state and county have been obtained.

      (5)   All utensils and equipment used by any person in the operation of a mobile vending stand shall be maintained in a
clean and sanitary condition and shall conform to all standards prescribed by state law and county ordinances and
regulations adopted thereto.

      (6)   Any person operating a mobile vending stand shall pick up any paper, cardboard, wood, or plastic containers,
wrappers, or any litter in any form which is deposited by any person on the sidewalk, street, or public property within 35 feet
of the mobile vending stand at any time the person is conducting business, and shall be responsible for the disposal of
same.

      (7)   No person conducting business from a mobile vending stand shall make any loud noise for the purpose of
advertising or attracting the attention of the public to the mobile vending stand.

      (8)   No mobile vending stand shall be left unattended.

      (9)   No product shall be sold from a mobile vending stand between 30 minutes after sunset and 30 minutes after sunrise.
The mobile vending stand shall be removed from its place of operation within one hour after sunset to a private storage
place out of view. A mobile vending stand shall not be placed upon any property for the operation of business before
sunrise.

      (10)   The mobile vending stand must be placed on privately-owned property when selling merchandise and any person
conducting business from a mobile vending stand shall have obtained approval of the Planning Commission to operate the
mobile vending stand as a conditional use on the subject property. The conditional use approval by the Planning
Commission shall be valid for one year, or such lesser time as the authorization may specify, from the date of approval,
unless revoked, terminated, or extended.



      (11)   (a)   No person shall sell any items, including but not limited to food, beverages, flowers, balloons, or other items,
or offer them for sale, from any street, sidewalk, public right-of-way, or public property within the city limits; provided however
that items permitted to be sold from a “mobile vending stand” may be sold from public property or public right-of-way which
has been closed by motion or resolution of the City Council if the mobile vending stand is doing business in conjunction with
a festival/community event.

         (b)   A “festival or community event” is a temporary use of land for the purpose of providing general community
amusement, recognition of historical events or traditions, or celebration of community-wide local products, which are
organized by non-profit organizations and the proceeds of the festival or event are used to promote the purposes of the non-
profit organization or donated to other non-profit organizations.

   (K)   Standards for parks and campgrounds in the T-C Zone.

      (1)   Campgrounds shall be utilized for overnight temporary use for vacation, recreational, or emergency purposes, but
not for residential purposes. Camp sites may be occupied by tents, travel trailers, or recreational vehicles.

      (1)   Campgrounds authorized in the T-C Zone shall not include intensively developed recreational uses, such as
swimming pools, tennis courts, or commercial amusement uses or commercial services, such as retail stores or gas stations.

      (2)   Individual camp sites may not include utility connections for recreational vehicles or travel trailers. Central comfort
stations and similar central facilities may be permitted.

      (3)   Area devoted to park or campground development shall not exceed ten acres per development.

      (4)   Development camp sites shall not exceed four sites per acre.

   (L)   Standards for public utility facilities, such as electric substation or transformer, public or community domestic water
supply reservoir or pumping station, or public or community sewage disposal plant or pumping station; radio or television
tower or transmitter; or governmental structure or use of land.

      (1)   In a residential zone, all equipment storage shall be within an enclosed building.

      (2)   Maintenance shops shall not be detrimental to adjacent properties.

      (3)   Public utility facilities shall be visually screened by a sight-obscuring screening which shall be required to a height
appropriate for the facility as approved by the Planning Commission, and shall be accomplished with vegetation, or fencing
landscaped with vegetation, to minimize impacts on adjacent properties.

   (M)   For a recreational vehicle located on an individual lot.

      (1)   Approval of such will not encourage a pattern of development incompatible with surrounding area development.

      (2)   The placement must be approved by the city and must be connected to city approved sewer and water systems.

      (3)   Sight-obscuring screening shall be required to a height as approved by the Planning Commission and shall be
accomplished with vegetation or fencing landscaped with vegetation to minimize impacts on adjacent properties.

      (4)   Upon compliance with the above and any additional conditions which the Planning Commission feels necessary to
ensure compatibility with surrounding area development, a conditional use permit will be given.

   (N)   Standards for solid waste disposal sites.

      (1)   Submitted plans and specifications shall contain sufficient information to allow the Planning Commission to set
conditions of approval:

         (a)   Appropriate use of the land;

         (b)   Setbacks from the property line;

         (c)   Location of vehicular access points and assurances that roadway development is sufficient for heavy traffic loads;
and

         (d)   Public safety considerations including the potential for the transport of long-term groundwater contaminants.

      (2)   (a)   If the solid waste disposal area is located less than 300 feet from a residential zone or a state highway, sight-
obscuring screening shall be provided to height appropriate for the facility as approved by the Planning Commission, but no
less than five feet.

         (b)   Visual screening shall be accomplished with vegetation to the required height within four years or be a fence
landscaped with vegetation to the height of the fence within four years.

      (3)   All areas used for solid waste disposal shall be located no closer than 100 feet from a property line.

      (4)   The property shall be fenced to prevent blowing paper and debris and to control access to the property by
pedestrians and vehicles.

   (O)   Standards for solid waste transfer stations.

      (1)   Submitted plans and specifications shall contain sufficient information to allow the Planning Commission to set



conditions of approval pertaining to:

         (a)   Appropriate use of the land;

         (b)   Setbacks from the property line;

         (c)   Location of vehicular access points and road development standards; and

         (d)   Public safety considerations, including monitoring for seepage transport via surface and groundwater.

      (2)   Solid waste transfer stations shall be fenced to prevent blowing paper and debris and to control access.

      (3)   Sight-obscuring screening shall be provided to a height appropriate for the facility as approved by the Planning
Commission, but no less than five feet. Visual screening shall be accomplished with vegetation to the required height within
four years or be a fence landscaped with vegetation to the height of the fence within four years.

      (4)   Facilities and storage shall be located no closer than 30 feet from any property line.

      (5)   Hours of operations shall be established.

      (6)   Operation shall be conducted to prevent seepage, excess noise and odor.

   (P)   For approval for uses involving construction, addition, or reconstruction of piers, docks, boathouses, or similar
facilities.

      (1)   In a Marine Waterway (M-W) Zone, all uses and activities shall be subject to the standards set forth in the estuarine
plan. Where these documents are in conflict, the estuarine plan shall prevail.

      (2)   Evidence shall be provided that the applicant has complied with or fully intends to comply with all standards of the
Department of Environmental Quality, the Division of State Lands and all other agencies having interests or ordinances
applicable to the property in question.

      (3)   The facility or any use related to it is designed to avoid water pollution to occur to any nearby tidelands, marshlands,
rivers, streams, or other waterways used for the raising, production, or preservation of marine life or other natural resources.

      (4)   The facility shall not substantially alter the course of any channel or the natural movement of any waters, or result in
increased flood hazards or the formation of appreciable bottom or sludge deposits deleterious to marine life, and shall meet
all of the following requirements:

         (a)   No dock, pier, or similar facility shall extend into any watercourse more than 25 feet from ordinary low water line
nor 50 feet from ordinary high water line, unless it can be shown that such extension is necessary and will not increase flood
hazards or create other problems, such as the deterioration or destruction of marine life or wildlife habitat as a result of the
extension;

         (b)   No pier, dock, or similar facility shall extend into the navigable channel any distance greater than required for safe
moorage and shall be designed so as to minimize potential flood hazard and loss of navigable waterway area; or

         (c)   No pier, dock, or similar facility shall extend into any watercourse more than 5% of the width thereof as measured
perpendicular from the mean low water line on one side of the watercourse to the mean low water line on the opposite side.

      (5)   No plumbing facilities for the handling of domestic or industrial waste shall be a part of the facility unless approved
by the Health Department.

      (6)   Application for a permit for a pier, dock, bulkhead, boathouse, or similar facility shall include:

         (a)   The source of the applicant’s right to construct the facility;

         (b)   The purpose of the facility;

         (c)   The legal description of the area where the facility will be located;

         (d)   A map and drawings, showing the plan for construction of the facility. Such plan shall include a vicinity map drawn
to scale showing the location and design of similar facilities and other development within 250 feet of the parcel upon which
the improvement is proposed; and

         (e)   The date when the project is scheduled to begin and to be completed.

      (7)   Plans for moorage facilities shall meet the following requirements.

         (a)   In new subdivisions tentatively approved after February 12, 1974, docks having less than ten moorage spaces will
be approved only in the instance that no other public or private means of launching or moorage is available or can be
developed within 1,000 feet of the site in question.

         (b)   Facilities being proposed in areas where it is likely that additional similar structures will be desired shall be
designed to be combined into joint facilities wherever possible.

         (c)   The design of moorages must provide sheer logs or similar devices for fending off debris. Such improvements
need not be maintained during periods where there is no danger of flood water.



         (d)   Docks shall have the long dimension running parallel to the channel, unless future development will result in pier
construction or moorages being connected, necessitating facility design perpendicular to the channel.

         (e)   The width of those portions of such facilities dimension required to provide safe access and moorage.

         (f)   One dock shall not be closer to another than the length of the shorter structure or 25 feet, whichever distance is
greater.

         (g)   The number of ramps, fenders, and other land connections, and the number of piling and other projection below
the surface of the water, shall be minimized.

         (h)   Walkways shall be provided on only one side of individual moorages unless it can be satisfactorily shown that
walkways are necessary on both sides. Walkways and breakwaters shall have a width not greater than required to provide
safe moorage and access thereto.

      (8)   Each dock, boathouse, or similar facility shall have the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers permit number permanently
affixed to the outboard side of the facility in a clearly visible location prior to requesting final city inspection for conditional
use permit issuance.

      (9)   No owner of a dock or similar facility shall exercise any proprietary rights on the water surrounding such structure.
Violations of such will be considered a failure to maintain the conditional use approval requirements.

      (10)   Recognition of potential flood hazards, as well as the need to protect the visual attractiveness of the waterway
shall be shown in design and exterior materials used in construction of docks, piers, boathouses, and similar facilities.

      (11)   In taking action on a conditional use request, the Planning Commission may consult any state, federal, or local
agency it feels appropriate for consultation and advice.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 93, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 154, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172,
passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see §
152.999

















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: January 10, 2024 
To: Depoe Bay Planning Commission 
From: Kit Fox, AICP, City Planner 
Subject: Geotechnical Report Review – #4-GEO-PC-23 – Map & Tax Lot No. 09-11-05-DD-

00300 
 

A building permit application to develop a single-family residence on this property was submitted 
to the City on June 12, 2023. On June 21, 2023, the applicant was advised that at a geologic hazard 
report was required for the proposal. The application form for Case File #4-GEO-PC-23 was 
submitted on October 19, 2023, and the associated fee/deposit paid on October 25, 2023, but the 
report itself was not submitted to the City until November 8, 2023. 

This is the first GEO application processed under the City’s new 3rd-party review process. The 
report and the applicant’s responses have undergone two (2) rounds of review with the City 
Engineer, but the application remained incomplete as of December 13, 2023. The applicant is 
anxious to have the report reviewed in time to obtain a building permit in the first quarter of 2024, 
so Staff agreed to place the application on tonight’s agenda, and to publish and mail the required 
public hearing notices, with the understanding that the City Engineer’s review and approval was 
still required prior to Planning Commission action. Staff advised the applicant that if the 
application was not deemed complete by January 3, 2024, Staff would recommend continuing the 
matter to the February 14, 2024, Planning Commission meeting. 

As of the date that this report was completed, the application for Case File #4-GEO-PC-23 
remained incomplete. Therefore, Staff recommends continuing the public hearing to February 14, 
2024.  

 



1

info

From: judy faucett 
Sent: Wednesday, November 22, 2023 10:02 AM
To: info
Cc: planner
Subject: city council 11/21/23 liaison report

Hi Carla, 
 
Would you please share the following with the Planning Commissioners: 
 
1.  The City Council approved the changes for the Planning Commission as previously discussed. 
2.  There was a report on "Recreational Immunity" and actions to be considered.  The City Council passed a resolution 
supporting restoration of Recreational Immunity. 
3.  The Zitniks shared their concerns about Spectrum/Charter cables not being placed underground.  The staff will review 
current ordinances to determine what is required when new cable is installed and report back to City Council.   
4.  There will be a  free Thanksgiving Dinner at the Community Center starting at 1pm.  
5.  Kim provided an update on the litigation on the Harbor Restoration Project.  There will be a hearing on December 5. 
 
Happy Thanksgiving to all!!! 
 
Judy 
 
 



CITY OF DEPOE BAY 
2023 LAND USE & BUILDING PERMIT ACTIVITY 

 

LAND USE & BUILDING PERMIT ACTIVITY/2023 

November 2023 
 

Date Applicant Type of Activity Zoning 
District 

Location Description Status/Comments 

11/3/23 Harry Napier Sign Permit C-1 09-11-08-BD-00900 & 
-01000 
411 S Hwy. 101 

Painted sign for 
“Harry’s Garage” 

Approved 

 
• City Council meeting on November 7, 2023: 

o Received the Planning Commission Liaison report for October 2023. 
o Introduced Ordinance No. 343-23, amending the number of regular members and minimum quorum size for the 

Planning Commission, and providing for the appointment of alternate commissioners. 
o Approved the replacement of certain regulatory signs in Depoe Bay Harbor. 
o Received a report on the dismissal of Petry v. Depoe Bay, LUBA No. 2023-070. 

• Staff attended the Department of Land Conservation & Development (DLCD) Coastal Planners’ Network Fall Meeting in 
Florence on November 8, 2023. 

• Planning Commission meeting on November 8, 2023: 
o Reviewed “Quality of Life” code amendment language related to exterior lighting, noise, and definitions of multi-

family dwellings. 
o Agreed to cancel December 13, 2023, Planning Commission meeting due to lack of public hearing items. 

• City Council meeting on November 21, 2023: 
o Adopted Ordinance No. 343-23, amending regulations related to the Planning Commission; becomes effective on 

December 21, 2023. 
• Lawsuit challenging the City’s denials of Coastal Shorelands Development and Variance applications for a residence on NW 

Sunset St. (Case Files #3-CS-PC-21 and #2-CS-PC-23) filed in U.S. District Court in Portland on November 30, 2023. 



CITY OF DEPOE BAY 
2023 LAND USE & BUILDING PERMIT ACTIVITY 

 

LAND USE & BUILDING PERMIT ACTIVITY/2023 

December 2023 
 

Date Applicant Type of Activity Zoning 
District 

Location Description Status/Comments 

12/5/23 Premier Invest-
ment Group, 
LLC 

Building Permit R-2PD 09-11-05-AB-02200 
1128 NE Marmoris 
Ave. 

New residence and 
garage 

Approved 

12/13/23 Carrie Newell Geo Review R-5PD 09-11-05-DC-07700 
271 NE Sea Star Dr. 

New residence and 
garage 

Incomplete 

12/18/23 Simplicity 
Homes 

Wetland 
Delineation 

R-4PD 09-11-17-BC-07300 
160 SW Cormorant 

New residence and 
garage 

Incomplete 

12/22/23 Leonid Snegirev Building Permit R-5PD 09-11-05-DC-05400 
137 NE Spring Ave. 

Front and rear decks 
for new residence 

Approved 

 
• Staff attended the Oregon Chapter of the American Planning Association’s 2023 Legal Issues Workshop in Portland (virtually) 

on December 1, 2023. 
• City Council meeting on December 5, 2023: 

o Received the Planning Commission Liaison report for November 2023. 
o Approved the appointment of Judy Faucett and Greg Steinke as alternate members of the Planning Commission, 

pursuant to Ordinance No. 343-23 (effective December 20, 2023). 
• Planning Commission meeting of December 13, 2023, canceled. 
• City Council meeting of December 19, 2023, canceled. 


	Staff Report - #4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS - 20240110 (With Attachments)_Redacted.pdf
	STAFF REPORT
	Attachments - #4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS - 20240110.pdf
	CUP application form
	Vinny Plot2
	Project building plans
	Site photos (9-26-23)

	Relevant Criteria - #4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS - 20240110.pdf
	Relevant Criteria - #4-CU-PC-23 BAY VIEW INVESTMENTS - 20240110
	DBZO 152.030
	DBZO 152.031
	DBZO 152.058

	DBZO 152.130-152.136
	DBZO 152.136(Q) - Ordinance 336-23


	11-Planner Log-November 2023.pdf
	Applicant
	Date

	12-Planner Log-December 2023.pdf
	Applicant
	Date




